IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI



APPELLANT

OTHA HORTON

VS.

FILED

JUN - 4 CCC3

Office of the Clerk Supreme Court Court of Appeals CAUSE NO. 2008-CP-00430

CHRISTOPHER EPPS, MARGARET BINGHAM & MICHELLE TAYLOR

APPELLEE(S)

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

OTHA HORTON, #W0589, PRO'SE CMCF 1-A G BLDG. P.O. BOX 88550 PEARL, MS. 39288-8550

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

OTHA HORTON

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2008-CP-00430

CHRISTOPHER EPPS, MARGARET BINGHAM. & MICHELLE TAYLOR

APPELLEE(S)

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1, DID CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING PLEADING PURSUANT TO M.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM UPON WHICH RELIEF CAN BE GRANTED.
- 2. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING PLEADING FOR FAIL-URE TO FILE WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS TIME PERIOD OR REQUEST JUDICIAL REVIEW.
- 3. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING PLEADING BECAUSE
 PLAINTIF DID NOT HAVE LIBERTY INTEREST IN TRUSTY TIME (SECTION 475-138.1 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE OF 1972); TRUSTY TIME IS A DISCRETIONARY MATTER.
- 4. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING PLEADING AS FRIVOLOUS AND WITHOUT MERIT, AND CAUSING PLAINTIFF TO FORFEIT ACCUMULATED
 EARNED TIME PURSUANT TO SECTION 47-5-138 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE
 OF 1972.
- 5. DID THE CIRCUIT ERR IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND JUDGEMENT.
- 6. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR LEAVE TO AMEND HABEAS CORPUS OR/ALTERNATIVE MOTION TO SHOW CAUSE.

STATEMENT OF CASE

1. The Appellant filed a Request for Administrative Remedy via Administrative Remedy Program in the Mississippi Department of Correction, to be placed in trusty status to receive ten (10) days reduction of sentence for every thirty (30) days of participation in an approved work program.

- 2. The MDOC Commissioner, Mr. Christopher Epps, denied relief, and the Appellant received his Third Step Response Form, and Certificate on April 7, 200%.
- 3. On May 8, 2006, the Appellant filed his Habeas Corpus Or/al-ternative Motion To Show Cause to request Judicial Review of the Administrative Decision.
- 4. On June 7, 2006, Appellee's filed Response and Motion To Dismiss to Habeas Corpus Or/Alternative Motion To Show Cause.
- 5. On June 14, 2006, the Appellant filed his Response To Motion To Dismiss.
- 6. On August 10, 2006, Circuit Judge, Samac Richardson dismissed Habeas Corpus Or/Alternative Motion To Show Cause for lack of Venue jurisdiction.
- 7. On October 20, 2006 the Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal to dismissal of Habeas Corpus Or/Anternative Motion To Show Cause, and Motion To Alter or Amend Judgement.
- 8, On October 2, 2007, the judgement of the court was revereed and remanded.
- 9. On January 18, 2008, Hon. Samac Richardson, Circuit Court Judge entered an order dismissing Appelant's Habeas Corpus Or/Alternative Motion To Show Cause.
- 10. On January 31, 2008, Appellant filed Motion To Alter Or Amend Judgment to order of Dismissal, and Motion For Leave To Amend Habeas Corpus or/Alternative Motion To Shw Cause.

- 11. On February 4, 2008, HOn. Samac Richardson dismissed
 Appellant's Motion To Alter Or Amend Judgment, and Motion For
 Leave To Amend Habeas Corpus Or/Alternative Motion To Show Cause.
- 12. On February 28, 2008, the Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal from denial of Habeas Corpus Or/Alternative Motion To Show Cause, Motion To Alter Or Amend Judgment, and Motion For Leave to Amnd Habeas Corpus Or/Alternative Motion To Show Cause.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

- 1. Otha Horton [Hereinafter referred to as plaintiff] committed the charge of sell of cocaine on January 29, 2004, in Attala County, Mississippi. [R. Vol. 1 p. 00009]
- 2. On September 14, 2004, the plaintiff was convicted of a sell of cocaine in violation of Miss. Code Ann. §41-29-139(a), and sentenced to seven years to serve and five (5) years probation under Miss. Code Ann. §41-29-139(b). [R. Vol. 1 p. 00009-00010].
- 3. Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §47-5-138.1 (2003), the plaintiff was eligible to receive ten (10) days reduction off sentence for every thirty (30) days of participation in an approved work program, because his charge was committed when said statute was still in effect.
- 4. On April 28, 2004, after plaintiff's crime was committed, Miss. Code Ann. §47-5-138.1 was amended to eliminate ten (10) days reduction off sentence for every thirty (30) days of participation in an approved work progarm, and made no provisions for plaintiff and other offenders whose crimes where committed prior to April 28, 2004, to receive ten (10) days reduction of sentence under prior law.

 $^{^{}m 1}$ R. Vol. 1 p. refers to Volume 1 of record and page.

- 5. Furthermore Miss. Code Ann. §47-5-138.1 amended on April 28, 2004, excluded plaintiff from receiving trusty status time of thirty (30) days for each thirty days of participation in an approved work program, because he was convicted in violation of Miss. Code Ann. §41-29-139(a) and sentenced under Miss. Code Ann. §41-29-139(b). [R. Vol. 1 p. 00010].
- 6. On October 26, 2005, the plaintiff begin working at the Maintenance Department at CMCF. [R. Vol. 1 p. 00010].
- 7. The Maintenance Department at CMCF is a sensitive placement. [R. Vol. 1 p. 00010].
- 8. Senseitive placement is a program approved to receive trusty status time. [R. Vol. 1 pp. 00010-00011].
- 9. On November 15, 2005, the plaintiff did a Request for Administrative Remedy to be placed in trusty status to receive ten (10) days reduction of sentence for every thirty (30) days of participation in maintenance program. [R. Vol. 1 p. 00011].
- 10. On January 11, 2006, Michelle Taylor answereed the First Step of Administrative Remedy stating, "Offender Horton, MDOC is no longer putting offenders in 10/30 trusty status. When 30/30 trusty statute passed on 4-28-04, the 10/30 became non-existent to new offenders arriving after that date." [R. Vol. 1 p. 00011].
- 11. On February 15, 2006, Superintendent Margaret Bingham anwered the Second Step of Administrative Remedy, denying relief. [R. Vol. 1. p. 00011].
- 12. On March 13, 2006, Commissioner, Christopher Epps answered the Third Step of Administrative Remedy, denying relief (See

- Ex. "I" attachdd), based on misconception that plaintiff complint was concerning his time sheet being miscalculated. (See ex."I" attached). Nevertheless, plaintiff's complaint was concerning being placed in trusty status to receive ten (10) days reduction of sentence for every thirty (30) days of participation in an approved work program. [R. Vol. 1 p. 00011].
- 13. Miss. Code Ann. §47-5-138.1 amended on April 28, 2004, increased plaintiff's punishment by eliminating ten (20) days reduction off sentence for every thirty (30) days of participation in an approved work program under law in effect at time plaintiff's crime was committed, and not making provisions for plaintiff and other offenders whose crimes were committed prior to April 28, 2004, to receive trusty status under law in effect at time their crimes were committed. [R. Vol. 1 pp. 00011-00012].
- 14. In Alternative, the defendant's erred in not allowing plaintiff to receive trusty time of ten (10) days of reduction off sentence for every thirty (30) days of participation in an approved work program, at CMCF Maintenance Department, because Miss. Code Ann. §47-5-138.1 amended April 28, 2004, did not specifically state that it applied retroactive to crimes committed before its enactment. [.R. Vol. 1 p. 00012]
- 15. Plaintiff should receive trusty time of ten (10) days reduction off sentence for every thirty (30) days of participation in Maintenance Department from Oct. 26, 2005, when he started work at Maintenance. [R. Vol. 1. p. 00012].

- 16. Plaintiff's Administrative Remedy Certificate is attached hereto.
- 17. On June 7, 2006, Appellee(s) filed "Response And Motion To Dismiss to Habeas Corpus Or/Alternative Motion To Show Cause. [R.Vol. 1 p. 00018].
- 19, Response And Motion To Dismiss alleged as follows: "This fails to state a claim upon wihch relief can be granted and should be dismissed under MRCP) 12(b)(6); This Court lacks Jurisdiction; ARP exhaustion was March 13, 2006; Convicts only have thirty (30) days to seek Judicial review: This is untimely (MCA §47-5-807); Trusty time is discretionary with MDOC Classification; no property or liberty interest is attached. (MCA CA §47-5-138.1); This is legally frivolous. [R. Vol. 1 p. 00020].
- 19. Plaintiff filed "Response To Motion To Dismiss," addressing all the defenses raised in Respondent "Response and Motion To Dismiss." [R. Vol.1 pp. 00022-00028].
- 20. In Response To Motion To Dismiss, plaintiff stated,
 "The plaintiff did not receive MDOC's Final Decision of ARP until
 April 7, 2006. (See Ex. "A" attached). [R. Voll 1 p 00025 ¶3].
- 21. Plaintiff had from April 7, 200@ until May 7, 2006 to file for Judicial review. [R.Vol 1 p. 00025 ¶3].
- 22. Since May 7, 2006 fail on Sunday, the plaintiff had until May 8, 2006 to file for Judicial Review pursuant to Rule 6(a) of Miss. Rules of Civil Procedure. [R.Vol.1 p. 00025 \P 3].
- 23. The plaintiff's Habeas Corpus Or/Alternative Motion To Show Cause was filed on May 8, 2006, the last day for filing.

[R. Vol. 1 p. 00025 ¶3].

- 24. It is not necessary for plaintiff to have a property or liberty interest in trusty time for his ex post facto rights to be violated. [R. Vol. 1 p. 00027].
- 25. The plaintiff has raised appropriate facts to supprt his claim. Therefore his claims are not frivolous as is shown in paragraph 1& 4 above. [R. Vol. 1 pp. 00027-00028].
- 26. Circuit Judge, Samac Richardson, dismissed the plaintiff's Habeas Corpus Or/Alternative Motion To Show Cause as follows: (1) The pleadings filed fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted and should be dismissed pursuant to Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6); (2) The Motion herein was dated May 1. 2006, and filed with the Clerk May 8, 2006, which is fifty-six (56) day(s) after the date of the third step response form and is outside the statutory thirty (30) day(s) time period to file or rquest judicial review; (3) The movant does not have a property or liberty interest in trusty time (Section 47-5-138.1 of the Mississippi Code of 1972); trusty time is a discretionary matter; (4) The Motion as filed herein is fivolous and without merit and the movant shall forfeit the appropriate amount of accumulated earned time pursuant to section 47-5-138 of the Mississippi Code of 1972 for the filing of a frivolous pleading herein. [R. Vol. 1 pp. 00040-00041].
- 27. The plaintiff filed a "Motion To Alter or Amend Judgment," to dismissal of Habeas Corpus Or/Alternative Motion To Show Cause

- addressing all issues for dismissal.[R. Vol. 1 pp. 00042-0048].
- 28. Plaintiff requested the Court to Alter Of Amend Judgment to Allow him to Amned his pleadings if necessary, and enclosed Motion For Leave To Amend. [R. vol.1 pp. 00045 ¶1, 00046¶2, 000047-00048, and 00036-00038].
- 29. Circuit Judge gave no justifying reason for the denial or Motion To Alter Or Amend Judgment. [R. Vol 1. p. 00053].
- 30. The plaintiff filed a Motion For Leave To Amend Habeas Corpus Or/Alternative Motion To Show Cause on January 31, 2008 [R.Vol. 1 p. 00036]
- 31. The Circuit Court dismissed the plaintiff's Motion For Leave To Amend Habeas Corpus Or/Alternative Motion To Show Cause without any justifying reasons for the denial. [R. Vol. 1 p. 00053].

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. DID CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING PLEADING PURSUANT TO MRCP 12(b)(6) FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM UPON WHICH RELIEF CAN BE GRANTED.

The Circuit Court erred in dismissing the plaintiff's Habeas Corpus for failure to state a claim under M.R.C.P 12(b)(6), because the allegations in complaint should be taken as true, and it did not appear beyond doubt that the plaintiff will be unable to prove any set of facts in support of his claim.

2. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING PLEADING FOR FAIL-URE TO FILE WITHIN THIRTY DAY TIME PERIOD OR REQUEST JUDICIAL RE-VIEW. The Circuit Court erred in dismissing pleading for failure to file within thirty day time period for filing judicial review, because in plaintiff's "Response To Motion To Dismiss," he attached a copy of document from Administrative Remedy Program showing that he received 3rd Step Response and Certificate on 4-7-06. Therefore, he had until May 7, 2006 to file for judcial review. May 7, 2006 was on Sunday; Thus he had until May 8, 2006 to file for judicial review. Therefore, pleadings were filed on last day.

3. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING PLEADING BECAUSE PLAINTIFF DID; NOT HAVE A LIBERTY INTEREST IN TRUSTY TIME (SECTION 47-5-138.1 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE 1972); TURSTY TIME IS A DISCRETIONARY MATTER.

In plaintiff's "Response To Motion To Dismiss," he showed that discretion in granting of trusty time does not foreclose ex post facto claim, and an ex post facto violation is not dependent on the existence of property of liberty interest. Therefore, Circuit Court erred in ; dismissing pleadings because plaintiff do not have property or liberty interest in trusty status time.

4. DID CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING PLEADING AS FRIVOLOUS AND WITHOUT MERIT, AND CAUSING PLAINTIFF TO FORFEIT ACCUMULATED
EARNED TIME PURSUANT TO SECTION 47-5-138 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE
OF 1972).

In plaintiff's "Response To Motion To Dismiss," he showed that he raised the appropriate facts to support his claim, and he showed that in paragraphs 1 & 4 of "Repsonse To Motion To Dismiss," that

claims were not frivolous because they did not lack an arguable basis in law or fact.

5. DID CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO ALTER OR AMEND JUDGMENT.

Plaintiff in his "Motion To Alter Judgment", showed that his pleading state a claim upon which relief could be granted; that he filed Habeas Corpus Or/Alternative Motion To Show Cause within thirity (30) day time period to file for judicial review; that he did not have to have a property or liberty interest to trusty time in order to state a claim under ex post facto clause; that his claims are not legally frivolous. Thus, Circuit Court erred in denying Motion To Alter Or Amend Judgment. Furthermore, the court erred in denying Motion To Alter Or Amend Judgment, because plaintiff requested Court to Alter Or Amend Judgment to allow him to amend his pleading if necessary, and enclosed Motion For Leave To Amend. Court erred by denying without any justifying reason appearing for denial. Thereby abusing his discretion.

6.DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DENYING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR LEAVE TO AMEND HABEAS COPUS OR/ALTERNATIVE MOTION TO SHOW CAUSE.

The Circuit Court erred by dismissing plaintiff's Motion For Leave to Amend by denial without any justifying reason appearing for denial. Thereby abusing his discretion.

ARGUMENT

DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING PLEADING PURSUANT TO MRCP 12(b) (6) FOR FAILURE TO STATE A CLAIM UPON WHICH RELIEF CAN BE GRANTED.

The Circuit Court Judge dismissed the plaintiff's Habeas Corpus Or/Alternative Motion To Show Cause pursuant to MRCP 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

[R. Vol. 1 p. 00034].

The standard for review for failure to state a claim under MRCP 12(b)(6) is set-forth ion Sennett, et al. v. U.S Fidelity and Guaranty Co. & Fidelity Guaranty and Insurance Underwriters, Inc., 757 So.2d 206, 209 (Miss. 2000), which states:

"A Motion To Dismiss for failure to state a claim under Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 12(6)(6) raises an issue of law. (citations ommitted). This court reviews questions of law denovo. Miss. Transp. Comm'n v. Fire , 693 So.2d 917, 920 (miss. 1987). When considering a motion to dismiss, the allegaitons in the complaint must be taken as true, and the motions should not be granted unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff will be unable to prove any set of fact in support of his claim. Butler v. Board of Supervisors, 659 So.2d 578, 581 (Miss. 1995)."

Under this standard of review the Circuit Court erred in dismissing the plaintiff's Habeas Corpus for failure to state a claim under MRCP 12 (b)(6), because the allegations in the complaint should be taken as true, and the Motion should not be granted unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff will be unable to prove any set of facts in support of his claim. For it does not appear: beyond doubt taht plaintiff will not be able to prove any set of facts in support of his claim. The plaintiff raised the claim that:

THE PLAINTIFF IS BEING DENIED TRUSTY STATUS TIME
OF TEN DAYS REDUCTION OFF HIS SENTENCE FOR
EVERY THIRTY DAYS OF PARTICIPATION IN AN APPROVED
WORK PROGRAM IN VIOLATION OF THE EX POST FACTO CLAUSES

OF THE U.S. AND MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTIONS, OR/ALTERNATIVELY MDOC ERRONEOUSLY EXCLUDED PLAINTIFF FROM RECEIVING TRUSTY TIME.

The facts in support of plaintiff's claims are as follows:

- 1. The plaintiff [Hereinafter referred to as plaintiff] committed the charge of selloof cocaine on January 29, 2004.

 [R. Vol. 1 p. 0009 ¶1]. This fact was admitted by defendants.

 [R.Vol. 1 pp. 00018 ¶1 & 00030, Admission No. 1 and Response].
- 2. On September 14, 2004, the plaintiff was convicted of a sell of cocaine in violation of Miss. Code Ann.§41-29-139(a), and sentenced to seven years to serve and five (5) years probation under MIss. Code ann. \$41-29-139(b). This was admitted to by defendants. [R. Vol. 1 p. 00018, \$2].
- 3. Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §47-5-138.1 (2003), the plaintiff was eligible to receive ten (10) days reduction off sentence for every thirty (30)days of participation in an approved work program, because his charge was committed when statute was still in effect. [R. Vol. 1 p. 00010]. The Defendant admitted that, "Pursuant to Miss. Code ann. §47-5-138.1 (Suup. 2004) inmates were eligible to receive ten (10) days reduction of sentence for every thirty (30) days of participation in an approved work program for charge committed in violation of Miss. Code Annn. §41-29-139(a), and sentenced under Miss. code Ann. §41-29-139(b), prior to April 28, 2004. [R. Vol. 1 p. 00030, Admission No. 2 and Response].
- 4. On April 28, 2004, after the plaintiff's crime was committed Miss. Code Ann. §47-5-138.1 was amended to eliminate ten (10) days reduction off sentence for every thirty days of participation

in an approved work program, and made no provisions for plain-tiff and other offenders whose crimes were committed prior to April 28, 2004, to receive ten (10) days reduction of sentence under pror law. [R. Vol. 1 p. 00010]. This was admitted by defendants. [R. Vol. 1 p. 00018 ¶ 4].

- 5. On October 26, 2005, the plaintiff begin working at the Maintenance Department at CMCF [R. Vol 1 p. 00010 ¶6]. Defendant's admitted this fact. [R. Vol. 1 p. 00019 \P 6 & 00030, Admission No. 3 & Response].
- 6. The Maintenance Department is a sensitive placement. Sensitive placement is a program approve to receive trust status time.

 [R. Vol. 1 pp. 00010 & 00011 ¶¶7&8]. Defendant admit to CMCF Maintenance Department being an approved work program for receiving trust status time of ten days reduction off sentence for every thirty (30) days of participatiton in said program prior to April 28, 2004. [R. Vol. 1 p. 00031, Admission No. 4 & Response].
- 7. On November 15, 2005, the plaintiff did a Request For Administrative Remedy to be placed in trusty status to receive ten (10) days reduction of sentence for every thirty (30) days of participation in maintenance program. [R. Vol. 1 p. 00011]. The Defendants admit this [R.Vol. 1 p. 00019 ¶9].
- 8. On January 11, 2006, MIchelle Taylor answered the First Step of Administrative Remedy stating, "Offender Horton, MDOC is no longer putting offenders in 10/30 trusty status. When 30/30 trusty statute passed on 4-28-04, the 10/30 became non-existent to new offenders arriving after that date." [R. Vol. 1 p.00011¶10].

Furhermore, the defendants admitted that Miss. Code Ann. §47-5-138.1 amended on April 28, 2004, was applied to plaintiff to prevent him from receiving ten (10) days reduction off sentence for every thirty (30) days of participation in an approved work program. [R. Vol. 1 p. 00031, Admission No. 5 & Response].

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