#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

2008-CP-00430

#### OTHA HORTON APPELLANT

vs.

#### CHRISTOPHER EPPS, MARGARET BINGHAM AND MICHELLE TAYLOR APPELLEES

On Appeal From the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JANE L. MAPP SPECIAL ASSIST. ATTORNEY GENERAL MSB# 510 George Street, Suite 212 Jackson, MS 39202 (601) 359-5770

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

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

When Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-138.1 was amended effective April 28, 2004, making inmates convicted of certain crimes ineligible for trusty status, MDOC did not remove any inmate convicted of such crimes from trusty status. Those inmates already in trusty status as of the date of the amendment were allowed to keep receiving the 10 days for 30 days trusty earned time allowance, but not the increased 30 for 30 trusty earned time allowance. However, if an inmate, such as Horton, who was ineligible to attain trusty status under the amendment was not already in trusty status, that inmate was not allowed to attain trusty status regardless of whether or not his crime was committed prior to the passage of the amendment.

The question before the Court is whether this application of the 2004 amendment to § 47-5-138.1 violates the *Ex Post Facto* Clause of the United States Constitution. Put in more practical terms, the issue is whether all inmates who committed their crimes prior to the April 28, 2004 amendment to § 47-5-138.1 should be eligible to attain 10 for 30 trusty status if they would have been eligible prior to the revision.

"The States are prohibited from enacting an ex post facto law. U.S. Const., Art. I, § 10, cl. 1. One function of the Ex Post Facto Clause is to bar enactments which, by retroactive operation, increase the punishment for a crime after its commission." Garner v. Jones, 529 U.S. 244, 250 120 S.Ct. 1362,1367, 146 L.Ed.2d (2000) (citing Collins v. Youngblood, 497 U.S. 37, 42, 100 S.Ct. 2715, 111 L.Ed. 2d 30 (1990). The Mississippi Supreme Court in Puckett v. Abels, 684 So.2d 671 (Miss. 1996), held that a statute violates the Ex post facto clause when "applied retroactively ... has the effect of increasing the punishment beyond what was prescribed when the crimes were committed." Id. at 678. The case sub judice differs from Puckett in one significant respect: unlike the 25% parole eligibility date and the 50% earned time allowance, trusty status was not automatically granted to an offender upon sentencing and commitment to MDOC, rather trusty status and thus the trusty earned time allowance was a special designation that had to be earned.

The United States Supreme Court in *California Dept. of Corrections v. Morales*, 514 U.S. 499, 509-510, 115 S.Ct. 1597, 1605, 131 L.Ed.2d 588 (1995) clarified earlier decisions as they related to the *ex post facto* question, stating as follows:

the focus of the *ex post facto* inquiry is not on whether a legislative change produces some ambiguous sort of "disadvantage," nor ... on whether an amendment affects a prisoner's "**opportunity** to take advantage of provisions for early release," but on whether any such change alters the definition of criminal conduct or increases the penalty by which a crime is punishable.

Id. at 506 n.3 (emphasis in original)(citations omitted).

The Court in *Morales* went on to hold that when an "amendment creates only the most speculative and attenuated possibility of producing the prohibited effect of increasing the measure of punishment for covered crimes" there is no *ex post facto* violation. In the case at bar, prior to the 2004 amendment trusty status was not automatically granted to an offender upon sentencing and commitment to MDOC, rather trusty status and thus the trusty earned time allowance was a special designation that had to be earned. Trusty earned time is not a right to be demanded, but a privilege that must be earned in accordance with state statute and MDOC policy. No inmate, upon sentencing could reasonably expect to gain trusty status and thus any detriment or increase in punishment from retroactively excluding certain offenders from trusty status eligibility would be speculative and thus does not violate the *ex post facto* clause.

Horton compares his case to that in *Weaver v. Graham*, 450 U.S. 24, 101 S.Ct. 960, 67 L.Ed.2d 17 (1980), but the facts of the case sub judice are easily distinguishable from those in *Weaver*. At issue in *Weaver* was a Florida penal statute "repealing an earlier statute and reducing the amount of 'gain time' for good conduct and obedience to prison rules deducted from a convicted prisoner's sentence...." *Id.* at 24. The statute in effect at the time

the petitioner both committed his crime and was sentenced

provided a formula for deducting gain-time credits from the sentences "of every prisoner who has committed no infraction of the rules or regulations of the division, or of the laws of the state, and who has performed in a faithful, diligent, industrious, orderly and peaceful manner, the work, duties and tasks assigned to him." Fla.Stat. § 944.27(1) (1975). According to the formula, gain-time credits were to be calculated by the month and were to accumulate at a n increasing rate the more time the prisoner had already served. Thus, the statute directed that **the authorities "shall grant** the following deduction" from a prisoner's sentence as gain-time for good conduct:

- "(a) Five days per month off the first and second years of his sentence;
- "(b) Ten days per month off the third and fourth years of his sentence; and
- "(c) Fifteen days per month off the fifth and all succeeding years of his sentence." Fla.Stat. § 944.27(1) (1975).

Weaver at 26. (emphasis added)(footnote omitted.).

Prior to April 28, 2004, Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-138.1, Mississippi's trusty earned time allowance law, read as follows:

In addition to any other administrative reduction of sentence, an offender in trusty status as defined by the classification board of the Department of Corrections may be awarded a trusty time allowance of ten (10) days' reduction of sentence for each thirty (30) days of participation in an approved program while in trusty status, including satisfactory participation in education or instructional programs, satisfactory participation in work projects and satisfactory participation in any special incentive program.

Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-138.1 (Supp. 2003).

The statue at issue in *Weaver* used the mandatory term "shall" giving the corrections authorities no discretion in awarding gain-time under the Florida statute. It was a right awarded to "every prisoner" who obeyed the rules. On the other hand, Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-138.1 used the permissive term "may" and left trusty status and the awarding of trusty

earned time to the complete discretion of MDOC authorities. No inmate, at the time of sentencing, could reasonably believe he would attain trusty status.

In *Wottlin v. Fleming*, 136 F.3d 1032 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1998), the Fifth Circuit Court of appeals found that an amendment to a Federal Bureau of Prisons (BOP) regulation making inmates who previously would have be eligible for early release upon completion of a substance-abuse treatment program ineligible if they had a prior conviction for a violent crime did not violate the *ex post facto* clause. The Court held that:

Wottlin's eligibility for the early release program had always been subject to the discretion of BOP. See 18 U.S.C. § 3621(e)(2)(B) ("period a prisoner convicted of a nonviolent offense remains in custody after successfully completing a treatment program may be reduced by the [BOP] ...." (Emphasis added)). Section 550.58 is merely a categorical determination by the BOP that it will not exercise that discretion in the case of inmates with a prior conviction for certain specified crimes.

#### Wottlin, 136 F.3d at 1037-38.

Just as in *Wottlin*, an inmate's placement in trusty status and the award of trusty earned time credits was discretionary with MDOC and the 2004 amendment simply means that such discretion will no longer be extended to inmates convicted of specified crimes if they had not attained trusty status as of April 28, 2004. Accordingly, the application of the 2004 amendment to Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-138.1 to offenders who committed their crimes before the effective date of the amendment, but who had not already attained trusty status does not violate the *Ex post facto* Clause.

2. Did the Circuit Court Err in Dismissing Pleading for Failure to File Within Thirty (30) Days Time Period or Request Judicial Review.

Horton argues that the trial court erred in finding that he had failed to seek judicial review within 30 days of receipt of the agency's final decision of his grievance as required by Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-807. The trial court found that Horton did "not state in said motion when he received the denial of the third step response form and is [sic] must be presumed by the Court to be within a reasonable time after the date of March 13, 2006 as stated on the third step response form." The court went on to find that Horton's motion "was dated May 1, 2006, and filed with the clerk on May 8, 2006, which is fifty-six day(s) after the date of the third step response form and is outside the statutory thirty (30) day(s) time period to file or request judicial review."

The lower court's findings in its January 18, 2008 Order of Dismissal were entirely reasonable based on the record before the court at that time. The issue of whether or not Horton timely sought judicial review was raised as far back as May 31, 2006 in the Defendants' Response and Motion to Dismiss, yet it appears that Horton never included a copy of the receipt for the Third Step Response to his grievance with any of his pleadings filed with the court until after the trial court's January 18, 2008 Order of Dismissal was entered. All the evidence before the court indicated that Horton did not seek judicial review within the 30 day time period required by law. Accordingly, the trial court's January 18, 2008 decision to alternatively dismiss Horton's motion as untimely was not arbitrary or capricious. However, whether or not Horton sought judicial review within the time frame

prescribed in Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-807 is irrelevant as the court also appropriately dismissed Horton's motion for failure to state a claim.

# 3. Did the Circuit Court Err in Dismissing Pleading Because Plaintiff Did Not Have Liberty Interest in Trusty Time (Section 47-5-138.1 of the Mississippi Code of 1972); Trusty Time Is a Discretionary Matter.

Horton argues that the trial court erred in dismissing his motion in part due to the fact that the awarding of trusty earned time is within the discretion of prison officials and offenders have no property or liberty interest in trusty time. Horton does not argue that these findings by the trial court are incorrect, he merely argues that even without a property or liberty interest in trusty time, Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-138.1, as amended, is *ex post facto* as applied to him. In support of his argument, Horton cites to *Puckett v. Abels*, 684 So.2d 671, 675 (Miss. 1996) and *Jones v. Georgia State Board of Pardons and Paroles*, 59 F.3d 1145, 1149 (11th Cir. 1995).

In *Puckett*, the Court quoting *Jones* held that "the mere presence of *some* discretion ... before ... the change in law does not in and of itself foreclose an ex post facto claim." The *Jones* Court went on to hold that "the presence of an ex post facto violation is not dependent on the existence of a liberty interest, protected by due process, in the pertinent regulations." *Id.* at 1149, FN 6.

Although it may be possible to state an *ex post facto* claim even where there is no protected liberty or property interest, the Defendants would argue that Horton has not stated such a claim in this instance. The Defendants' argument, *supra*, in response to Horton's first

Issue, establishes that as a matter of law, the application of the 2004 amendment to Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-138.1 to offenders not in trusty status as of its effective date does not violate the *Ex post facto* clause. Furthermore, the awarding of trusty earned time even to those offenders participating in trusty eligible programs is discretionary with MDOC. Therefore, the denial of trusty status, even if an offender is eligible, violates no constitutional or statutory right of the offender.

4. Did the Circuit Court Err in Dismissing Pleading as Frivolous and Without Merit, and Causing Plaintiff to Forfeit Accumulated Earned Time Pursuant to Section 47-5-138 of the Mississippi Code of 1972.

Horton argues that the trial court erred in holding that his motion was frivolous and without merit and ordering that he forfeit the appropriate amount of accumulated earned time pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 47-5-138. Horton argues that his claims do not meet the definition of legally frivolous. While it does not appear that the Mississippi Supreme Court or Court of Appeals has ever defined "frivolous" as it relates to Section 47-5-138, the Supreme Court has "defined 'frivolous' in the context of a pleading scrutinized for Rule 11 MRCP purposes as one with 'no hope of success.'" *Rougeau v. Shepard*, 607 So.2d 1227, 1231 (Miss. 1992)(quoting *Tricon Metals & Services, Inc. v. Topp*, 537 So.2d 1331 (Miss. 1989)).

Section 47-5-138 reads in pertinent part as follows:

(3)(a) For the purposes of this subsection, "final order" means an order of a state or federal court that dismisses a lawsuit brought by an inmate while the inmate is in the custody of the Department of Corrections as frivolous, malicious or for failure to state a claim upon which relief could be granted.

(b) On receipt of a final order, the department shall forfeit;

Sixty (60) days of an inmate's accrued earned time if the department has received one (1) final order as defined herein;

One hundred twenty (120) days of an inmate's accrued earned time if the department has received two (2) final orders as defined herein;

One hundred eighty (180) days of an inmate's accrued earned time if the department has received three (3) or more final orders as defined herein.

(c) The department may not restore earned time forfeited under this subsection.

Whether or not Horton's motion was so hopeless as to meet the definition of legally frivolous is immaterial since pursuant to § 47-5-138 offenders must also forfeit a certain amount of earned time if a lawsuit is dismissed "for failure to state a claim upon which relief could be granted." As argued, *supra*, the trial court also appropriately found that Horton's petition should be dismissed for this reason.

# 5. Did the Circuit Court Err in Dismissing Plaintiff's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment.

Horton argues that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment without giving a reason for doing so.

"[I]n order to succeed on a Rule 59(e) motion [to alter or amend judgment], the movant must show: (i) an intervening change in controlling law, (ii) availability of new evidence not previously available, or (iii) need to correct a clear error of law or to prevent manifest injustice." *Brooks v. Roberts*, 882 So.2d 229, 233 (Miss.2004). Horton's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment did not meet any of these criteria required for success, instead

he merely reiterated his previous arguments which had already been considered and rejected by the trial court. While he did present evidence that he did seek judicial review within 30 day period required under § 47-5-807, this was not new evidence that was previously unavailable. He could have submitted his receipt showing the date he received the Third Step Response to his grievance and anytime prior to the trial court's dismissal of his petition. Regardless, the trial court dismissed his petition not only on the grounds that it was untimely filed, but also for failure to state a claim. Horton presented nothing in his Motion to Alter or Amend that to show an intervening change in law or that the trial court applied a "clear error of law" when it found that he had failed to state a claim. Accordingly, the lower court did not err in denying Horton's Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend.

## 6. Did the Circuit Court Err in Dismissing Plaintiff's Motion for Leave to Amend Habeas Corpus Or/ Alternative Motion to Show Cause.

After the trial court entered its Order of Dismissal, Horton not only filed a Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment but, he also filed a Motion for Leave to Amend Habeas Corpus or/ Alternative Motion to Show Cause. Horton argues that the lower court abused its discretion when it denied his Motion for Leave to Amend without setting out any reasons justifying such denial.

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